
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

____________________________________________ 
        : 
LYKEH MUMFORD, by and through his next friend, : 
Katherina Mach; JOSEPH YALE, by and through : 
his next friend, Pamela Zotynia; and KAREN LYN : 
BLAKELY, by and through her mother and next  : 
friend, Carol Blakely,     : 
         : 
     Plaintiffs,  : 
        : 
    v.     : Civil Action No. 11-3312 
        : 
DEPARTMENT OF  PUBLIC WELFARE OF THE : 
COMMONWEALTHOF PENNSYLVANIA; and : 
GARY ALEXANDER, in his official capacity as : 
Acting Secretary of Public Welfare of the  : 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,    : 
        : 
     Defendants.  : 
____________________________________________: 
 

AMENDED COMPLAINT
 

I. Introduction
 

1. Plaintiffs are individuals with intellectual disabilities who are unnecessarily 

institutionalized in psychiatri c hospitals, one of whom faces  the imminent pros pect of 

unnecessary commitment to a state mental retardation institution. 

2. Plaintiffs are eligible for and enro lled in the Cons olidated Waiver, a 

Medical Assistance home and c ommunity-based waiver administ ered by Defenda nt, 

Pennsylvania Department of Public Welfare (DPW).  The Consolidated Waiver provides 

a full array of services for people with inte llectual disabilities, including residential and 

non-residential supports that enable them to live in the community. 
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3. Due to t heir changing needs, the  services most recently  provided to the 

Plaintiffs under the C onsolidated Waiver pr oved inadequate.  This resulted in thei r 

psychiatric hospitalizations. 

4. Although Plaintiffs' community service needs may have changed, the 

Consolidated Waiver offers the resources and services they now need  to return to the 

community, and it is Defendants' responsibility to assure that they receive those services. 

5. Defendants' policies and practices, however, have undermined the ability of 

Plaintiffs to receive the Consolidated Waiver services they need to promptly return to and 

remain in their communities. 

6. Defendants' policies and practices resu lt in the unnecessa ry institutional-

ization of Plaintiffs in vi olation of the in tegration mandates of Tile II of the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (ADA)  and Section 504 of  the Rehabilitation Act.  I n addition, 

Defendant Alexander's actions and inactions violate Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 

the federal Medical Assistance statute, by de nying Plaintiffs services  to which they are 

entitled, failing to provi de those services with reason able promptness, and failing to 

protect their health and welfare, to make av ailable feasible alternatives, and to allow 

Plaintiffs to choose between institutional and community services.  Plaintiffs seek declar-

atory and injunctive relief. 

II. Jurisdiction and Venue
 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 

1343(a)(3), and 1343(a)(4). 
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8. Plaintiffs' claims are a uthorized by 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396 , 1983, 12133, 29 

U.S.C. § 794, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202. 

9. Venue is appropriate in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. ' 1391(b) since a 

substantial part of the events that gave rise to these claims arose in this District. 

III. Parties
 

10. Plaintiff Lykeh Mumford is a 32-year -old resident of Phil adelphia, 

Pennsylvania who has an intellectual disability and a diagno sis of intermittent explosive 

disorder.  Mr. M umford brings this lawsui t by and through his ne xt friend, Katherina 

Mach. 

11. Plaintiff Joseph Yale is a 26-yea r-old resident of Luzerne County,  

Pennsylvania who has an intellectual d isability and has been diagnosed with 

schizoaffective disorder.  Mr. Y ale brings th is lawsuit by and through his next friend, 

Pamela Zotynia. 

12. Plaintiff Karen Lyn Blakely is a 42-y ear-old resident of P hiladelphia, 

Pennsylvania who has  an intellectual disab ility and has been diag nosed with bipolar 

disorder.  Ms. Blakel y brings this lawsuit by and through her mother and ne xt friend, 

Carol Blakely. 

13. Defendant Department of Public Welfare is the Commonwealth agency that 

is responsible to provide services to Pe nnsylvanians with intellectual disabilities under  

the Mental Health and Mental Retardation Act of 1966, 50 P.S. § 4201(1).   DPW als o 

arranges for and funds the provision of hom e and community-based mental retardatio n 

services so that people with  intellectual disabilities can liv e in the communi ty with non-
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disabled persons.  In addition, D PW is the single state agency that has responsibility to 

implement Pennsylvania's Medical Ass istance Program, including services provided to 

individuals with intellectual disabilities.  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(5); 55 Pa. Code §  101.1(e). 

14. Defendant Gary Alexander is the Acting Secretary of Public Welfare of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  Mr. Alexande r administers DPW and, as such, he is 

responsible to assure that Pennsylvania' s Medical Assistance program is operated in 

compliance with federal law.  M r. Alexander is sued in his offici al capacity only for 

actions and omissions under color of state law. 

IV. Factual Background
 
 A. Medical Assistance, HCBS Waivers, and the Consolidated Waiver

15. Title XIX of the Social Security Act (Title XIX), 42 U.S.C. § 1396 et seq., 

establishes the federal Medical Assistance program. 

16. Medical Assistance is a cost-sharing arrangem ent under which t he federal 

government reimburses more than 50 percent of the expenditures incu rred by states that 

elect to furnish Medical Assistance to i ndividuals whose inc ome and resources are 

insufficient to cover the costs of their medical care. 

17. The purpose of Medical Assistance is  to provide medi cal services to 

eligible individuals, including services to help such individuals "attain or retain capability 

for independence or self-care ...."  42 U.S.C. § 1396. 

18. States are not re quired to participate in the Medical Assistance program, 

but, if they choose to do s o, they must adopt a "state plan" that delineates the standards 

for determining eligibility and identifies the extent of Medical Assistance benefits. 
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19. Pennsylvania has chosen to participat e in the Medical Assistance p rogram 

and has adopted a State Medical Assistance Plan. 

20. Title XIX delineates the types of medica l services that can be funded under 

a state's Medical Assistance plan.  See 42 U.S.C. § 1396d.  Certain types of services are 

mandatory (e.g., inpatient hos pital services, physicia ns' services, and nursing facilities) 

and must be included in every state' s Medical Assistance plan.  O ther types of services  

are optional ( e.g., hospice care, dental c are, and m edications), and ea ch state has 

discretion to choose whether to cover any particular optional service. 

21. Many home and community -based services for people with dis abilities 

(such as habilitation for individuals with in tellectual disabilities, behavioral therapy, 

vocational supports, and c ommunity integration services) cannot be covered either as 

mandatory or optional services under Title XIX. 

22. Title XIX permits a state to obtain a home and community-based services 

(HCBS) waiver from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS).  42 U.S.C. 

§ 1396n(c).  HCBS waivers allow states to include in their stat e plans as "Medical 

Assistance" home and community-based services for individuals who, without such care, 

would require institutionalization in an intermed iate care facility for persons with mental 

retardation, nursing facilities, or hospitals. 

23. HCBS waivers allow states to "w aive" three specific Title XIX 

requirements that apply t o mandatory and optional services -- the statewideness 

requirement (which requires the state to a ssure the availability of services in all 

geographic areas); the comparab ility requirement (which requir es the state to assure that 
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all eligible persons have access to services in the same amount, duration, and scope); and 

income and resource rules.  42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(3). 

24. By waiving the "comparability" requirement, states can limit the number of 

persons who will be allowed to participate in an HCBS  waiver and can establish 

qualifications for eligibility based on age, di sability, or other criteria.  Waiver of the 

comparability requirement also a llows states to provide Medi cal Assistance services to 

HCBS waiver participants in a different amount, duration, or  scope than is available to 

other Medical Assistance participants. 

25. A state can provide servic es in HCBS waivers that  are not identified in 

Title XIX as approved mandat ory or optional services ( e.g., habilitation, respite care, 

home and vehicle modifications , and vocational supports).  42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(4)(B); 

42 C.F.R. § 440.180. 

26. In sum, the purpose of Title XIX 's HCBS waivers is to en courage states to 

provide services to assist individuals with  disabilities to avoid ins titutionalization.  42 

C.F.R. § 441.300.  As long as  community-based services vis-à-vis institutional services 

are cost-neutral, see 42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(2)(D), the prefer ence is to prov ide services in 

the community. 

27. Pennsylvania has received approval from CMS to operate multiple HCBS 

Waivers, including the Consolidated Waiver for individuals with intellectual disabilities. 

28. DPW, the single state agency designate d by Pennsylvania to  administer its 

Medical Assistance program, has delegated res ponsibility to administer the Consolidate d 

Waiver to its Office of Developmental Programs (ODP). 
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29. The Consolidated Waiver, establishe d in 1986, provi des services to 

Pennsylvanians with intellectual disabilities age 3 and older. 

30. The Consolidated Waiver is the la rgest HCBS Waiver in the Common-

wealth, both in terms of the number of individuals served and expenditures. 

31. The Consolidated Waiver limits the nu mber of individuals who can receive 

services.  Currently, the limit is approximately 17,000 persons. 

32. The Consolidated Waiver is the pr imary funding s ource for community-

based mental retardation services in Pennsylvania. 

33. The Consolidated Waiver offers a broad range of community-based mental 

retardation services, depe nding on t he participant=s needs, including: residential 

habilitation; home and community-based habilitation; licensed day habilitation; supported 

employment, prevocational, and transitional work services; behavioral supports; respite;  

homemaker/chore services; home and vehi cle accessibility adaptations; supports 

coordination; nursing services; and transportation. 

34. DPW contracts with local Administra tive Entities (AEs) to perform opera-

tional and adm inistrative functions to implement the Conso lidated Waiver.  In most 

instances, the AEs are the County Mental Health/Men tal Retardation (MH/MR) 

Programs. 

35. Once an individual is approved to participate in the Cons olidated Waiver, 

he or she and his or her S upport Team (including involv ed family or guardian and  

Supports Coordinator) work to develop an Individual Support Plan (ISP) to i dentify the 

supports and services the individual needs to live in the community. 
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36. The ISP, which must be approved by the AE, is th e document that 

authorizes the home and community-based services that the individual will receive under 

the Consolidated Waiver. 

37. The services and supports identified in an ISP are based on the individual' s 

current clinical and medical needs assess ed pursuant to t he ODP-approved needs 

assessment instrument. 

38. When an individual's service needs change (e.g., he or she needs a different 

type of service, m ore of a service, or less of a service), his or her ISP is am ended to 

reflect the change and the AE authorizes the new or different services. 

39. For individuals who are enrolled in th e Consolidated Waiver, there is no 

monetary cap on services.  Participants are en titled to receive any serv ices they need that 

are available under the Waiver and that are necessary for their health and welfare. 

40. Consolidated Waiver par ticipants who are institutionalized are at risk of 

termination from the Waiver if they do not receive any services funded by the Waiver for 

a certain time period.  Once a person is term inated from the Consolidated Waiver, he or 

she must reapply and will be placed on a waiti ng list for services.  Currently, there are 

thousands of Pennsylvanians on the "emergency" waiting list for Waiver services, and, as 

a result, a person who is terminated from th e Consolidated Waiver may have to wait 

years to be re-enrolled. 

41. DPW's ODP has recently im plemented policies and practices that have the 

effect of denyi ng Consolidated Waiver par ticipants prompt access to  the services they 

need for their health and welfare. 
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42. ODP requires that its Central Office  approve development of any new one-

person residential programs.  Recently, how ever, multiple requests submitted to ODP's 

Central Office for de velopment of s uch programs have neither been a pproved nor 

disapproved, and no one at ODP  has been willing to make such decisions.  This has 

resulted in delays in approval for new programs. 

43. DPW is not payi ng adequate r ates for ineligible expenses incurred in 

residential habilitation programs. 

a. Title XIX does not allow federal re imbursement for room and board 

costs for residential programs (such as mortgage payments, home insurance, and food). 

b. Historically, DPW has used state funds to allow residential providers 

to finance those expenses.  These are called "ineligible expenses." 

c. The ineligible expenses paid by the state, toget her with payment by 

residents of a portion of their Supplemental Se curity Income or Social Security disability 

benefits, had been sufficient to allow providers to fund those ineligible costs. 

d. Recently, DPW expanded the definition of in eligible expenses, 

shifting many costs from those formerly eligib le for Medical Assi stance matching funds 

to ineligible costs.  This in cludes, for example, the time spen t by staff in the residential 

home preparing meals. 

e. ODP has not increased its payments  to providers for the expanded 

ineligible expenses while it has reduced the providers' eligible expe nses to reflect the 

unavailability of Medical Assist ance matching funds to pay ce rtain previously eligible 

expenses. 

 9

Case 2:11-cv-03312-JHS   Document 3   Filed 06/03/11   Page 9 of 26



f. At the same time, ODP concluded that it was overpaying providers 

of residential habilitation services for ineligible expenses, proposing to reduce those costs 

by $27 million annually. 

g. This proposed re duction, together with the already inade quate 

payments for ineligibl e costs, has m ade providers reluctant to de velop new residential 

programs. 

44. Providers' hesitation in developing new programs has been compounded by 

the inadequate and unstable rates for program s that serve people with more challenging 

needs.  On information and belief, ODP has implemented a "high cost rate development 

policy" by which ODP determines rates for new residential programs that are "high cost."  

In addition, ODP has implemented an "outlier rate adjustment policy" by which ODP has 

reduced rates for exi sting high-cost programs after those rates were negotiated by 

providers.  Neither of these policies is written, and ODP ha s not informed the providers 

or the public as to the standards that are us ed in setting high cost rates for new programs 

or reducing rates for existi ng high cost program s.  Thes e policies have effectively  

narrowed rate ranges, m inimizing incentives for providers to serv e individuals with 

complex needs. 

45. On information and belief, ODP has not increased its rates for residential 

habilitation services sufficient to cover the cost increases for those services for many 

years.  As providers' costs go up and rates do not, pr oviders have made cuts in their  

programs.  There are many fixed costs that th e providers cannot reduce.  Providers also 

cannot reduce costs for direct car e staff that are required by the individuals' ISPs.  As a 
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result, many providers have cut clinical sta ff who had expertise to address clients in the  

providers' programs with chall enging behavioral issues.  Clinical staff can be an 

important resource for direct care staff to consult when issues arise.  As clinical staff have 

been terminated by providers due to costs constraints, direct care staff do not have access 

to the expertise they need to assist them to provide appropriate care for these individuals 

in their homes and communities. 

46. People with intellectual disabilities wh o also have diag noses of mental 

illness, including the Plaintiffs, need serv ices for both of their disabilities.  DPW 

separates the provision of these services between ODP and D PW's Office of Ment al 

Health and Substance Abuse Services (OMH SAS).  There is a lack of coor dination 

between ODP and OMHSAS, resulting in barriers to accessing the services the Plaintiffs 

need from both systems. 

 B. Plaintiffs' Unmet Service Needs and Unnecessary Institutionalization
 

47. Plaintiff Lykeh Mumford has  an in tellectual disability and has been 

diagnosed with pervasive developmental disorder and impulse control disorder. 

48. Mr. Mumford has been enrolled in the Consolidated Waiver since 2008. 

49. Until January 2011, Mr. Mu mford lived in the commu nity in the homes of 

his mother and grandm other.  Mr. Mum ford received 14. 5 hours daily of  home and 

community habilitation services during weekdays and 12 hours daily during weekends. 

50. While living in the comm unity, Mr. Mum ford enjoyed participating i n 

community activities, including taking walks, swimming, bike riding, playing basketball, 
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skating, and table hockey.  He also enjoyed having morning coffee in the park and going 

to the community center and the library. 

51. Mr. Mumford has ha d instances of aggressiveness toward his fam ily and 

self-injurious behaviors stemming from his disabilities. 

52. Mr. Mumford's grandmother, due to her adva ncing age, can no longer  

support him in her home.  Mr. Mumford's mother cannot handle his behavioral issues. 

53. In January 2011, Mr. Mu mford was admitted to a private psychiatric hos-

pital.  Mr. Mumford's treating professionals at the psychiat ric hospital have determined 

that he no longer needs hospitalization, but he cannot return to live with his family. 

54. On information and belief, DPW's Medical Assistance program has paid for 

Mr. Mumford's institutionalization at the psychiatric hospital. 

55. The private psychiatric hospital has threatened to file a petition to 

involuntarily commit Mr. Mumf ord to a state mental retardation institution since his 

treating professionals at the h ospital concluded that he does not need psychiatri c 

treatment or medication. 

56. It is medically necessary for Mr. Mu mford to receive ha bilitation services 

in a structured residential community placement, but DPW has failed to provide him with 

those services. 

57. Mr. Mumford's AE currently provides 1:1 staff support for Mr. Mumford at 

the inpatient psychiatric hospital. 

58. Mr. Mumford's AE, which contracts with DPW to arrange for services, has 

only sought to place Mr. Mumford in an exis ting program.  Those efforts h ave proven 
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unsuccessful because providers either are unabl e to meet his needs or because providers 

have no appropriate vacancies.  As of mid-May 2011, DPW had not authorized the AE to 

request that provi ders develop a new progr am designed specifically to  meet Mr. 

Mumford's unique needs. 

59. Mr. Mumford is unnecessarily institu tionalized in a private psychiatric 

hospital and is at risk of extended unnecessa ry institutionalization in a state mental 

retardation institution.  Mr. Mumford receives inadequate habilitation services at the 

psychiatric hospital, which are necessary due to his intellectual  disability to assist him to 

acquire, retain, and im prove his com munication, personal adjustm ent, relationship 

development, socialization, and adaptive skills ne eded to enable him to live in the 

community.  As a result of his unneces sary institutionalization, Mr. Mum ford is 

segregated from community life and is at ri sk of termination fro m the Cons olidated 

Waiver. 

60. Plaintiff Joseph Yale has an intelle ctual disability and a diagnosis of 

schizoaffective disorder. 

61. Mr. Yale has been enrolled in the Consolidated Waiver since May 2010. 

62. Mr. Yale has been admitted to private and state psychiatric hospitals nearly 

20 times.  Hos pitalizations are not unus ual for individuals with dual diagnoses of  

intellectual disabilities and mental illness, particularly where the individual does not have 

access to an array of community supports and services. 

63. Until August 2010, Mr. Ya le lived with family in the com munity in 

between his frequent hospitalizations. 
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64. After he was enrolled in the Consolidated Waiver, Mr. Yale was placed in a 

residential habilitation program in an apartment with 1:1 st affing for approximately six 

weeks between August and October 2010. 

65. In or ar ound October 2010, Mr.  Yale was involuntarily committed to a 

private psychiatric hospital af ter incidents of self-injuri ous behavior, aggression, and 

property damage.  This was not intended to be a permanent placement. 

66. It is medically necessary for Mr. Ya le to receive residential habilitation 

services in the community in a highly structured setting. 

67. On information and belief, DPW's Medical Assistance program has paid for 

Mr. Yale's institutionalization at the psychiatric hospital. 

68. A provider, Resources fo r Human Development (RHD), has submitted a 

budget to serve Mr. Yale and the budget was reviewed by the former Deputy Secretary of 

ODP in March 2011.  ODP reject ed the budget.  A meeting was held between RHD and 

ODP staff on March 23, 2011.  On April 8, 2011, RHD s ubmitted answers to ODP' s 

follow-up questions.  RHD made several attempts since then to schedule another meeting 

to review its new budget subm issions for Mr. Yale.  In May 2011, DPW informed RHD 

that it would have to complete new forms. 

69. On or around June 2, 2011, ne gotiations between DP W and RH D had 

reached an impasse. 

70. On or around June 2, 2011, the private psychiatric hospital where Mr. Yale 

had been institutionalized re ferred Mr. Yale for involu ntary commitment to Clarks  
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Summit State Hospital, a state-operated psyc hiatric hospital, and a commitment hearing 

has been scheduled for June 10, 2011. 

71. Mr. Yale does not need to be institutionalized in a state psychiatric hospital.  

He has been referred for co mmitment solely due to the breakdown in negotiations 

between DPW and RHD, not due to psychi atric symptoms that require commitment to a 

state psychiatric hospital. 

72. RHD is still willing to provide commun ity residential habilitation s ervices 

to Mr. Yale if it is able to reach agreement with DPW on the rate. 

73. While living in the community, Mr. Ya le enjoyed going to the  movies, 

playing sports, weightlifting, and shopping. 

74. Mr. Yale has been institutionalized an d segregated from society for more 

than seven months as he aw aits development of a reside ntial habilitation program.  Mr. 

Yale receives no habilitation s ervices at th e private psychiatric hos pital, which are 

necessary due to his intellectual disability to assist him to acquire, retain, and improve his 

communication, personal a djustment, relationship development, socialization, and 

adaptive skills need ed to enable him to live in the community.  He is at risk of 

institutionalization in a state psychiatric ho spital and termination from the Consolidated 

Waiver. 

75. Plaintiff Karen Lyn Blakely has an intellectual disability and a diagnosis of 

bipolar disorder. 

76. Ms. Blakely is enrolled in the Consolidated Waiver. 
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77. Ms. Blakely received residential habilita tion services in  Philadelphia until 

November 2009.  At t hat time, Ms. Blakely's mother rem oved her from the residential 

habilitation program where she was living because staff scalded Ms. Blakely with hot 

water after a behavioral incident. 

78. Ms. Blakely's mother took  her home in November 2009.  W hile she was 

living with her mother, Ms. Blakely received limited supports and services. 

79. Beginning in February 2010, Ms. Blake ly's behavioral issues becam e 

increasingly difficult and she became physically aggressive toward her mother. 

80. Ms. Blakely was admitted three times to  private psychiatric hospitals in  

Philadelphia.  The l ast admission was on  June 29, 2010, and she has rem ained 

hospitalized since that date. 

81. After her most recent admission to a psychiatric hospital, the staff took Ms. 

Blakely off all of he r medications to detoxify her system.  This  resulted in marked 

improvement in Ms. Blakely's functional abilities and behavior. 

82. Ms. Blakely's treatment team at the ps ychiatric hospital has concluded that 

she no longer needs inpatient psychiatric treatment. 

83. Ms. Blakely's AE identified a reside ntial habilitation provider, Keystone, 

which was able and willing to serve her in the summer of 2010.  I n May 2011, however, 

Keystone informed the AE that it could not serve Ms. Blakely be cause of an issue with  

rates.  The AE attempted to work with DPW to  resolve that issue, but the effort proved 

fruitless. 
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84. A respite care provider rescinded its offer to provide community services to 

Ms. Blakely pending th e development of a permanent residential habilitation program 

after Keystone withdrew its offer to serve Ms. Blakely. 

85. The psychiatric hospi tal has stated that it intends to file a petition to 

involuntarily commit Ms. Blakel y to a state-operated mental retardation institution since 

she no longer needs psychiatric care.  It wo uld be difficult for her mother to visit Ms. 

Blakely in such a facility due to their distance from her home. 

86. Ms. Blakely is an energetic, talkative, engaging person who enjoys living in 

the community. 

87. Ms. Blakely has been institutionalized  and segregated from society for 

nearly a year while she awaits  development of a residentia l habilitation program.  Ms. 

Blakely receives no habilitation s ervices at the psychiatric hospital, which are necessary 

due to her intellectual disability to assist  him to acquire, retain, and improve his 

communication, personal a djustment, relationship development, socialization, and 

adaptive skills needed to  enable him to live in the commun ity.  Ms. Blakely is at risk of 

institutionalization in a state mental reta rdation institution and termination from th e 

Consolidated Waiver. 

 C. Irreparable Harm

88. Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable ha rm as a result of Defenda nt's actions 

and inactions that give rise to this case. 

89. Plaintiffs are unnecessarily institu tionalized and segregated from the 

community. 
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90. Plaintiffs are at risk of losing thei r eligibility for the C onsolidated Waiver 

and their entitlement to community mental re tardation services available under that 

Waiver if they continue to be institutionalized. 

V. Claims
 
 A. Count I -- Americans with Disabilities Act
 

91. Paragraphs 1 through 90 are incorporated by referenc e as if fully set forth 

herein.  This Count is brought solely against Defendant Alexander in his official capacity 

for acts and omissions under color of state law. 

92. Plaintiffs have intellectual disabilities,  impairments that substantially limit 

one or more major life activ ities, including but not limite d to, caring for themselves, 

learning, concentrating, and thinking.  As such, they are persons with disabilities 

protected by the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  42 U.S.C. §§  12102(1)(A), 

12102(2)(A). 

93. Plaintiffs are eligible for community -based mental retardation services, 

including services under the Co nsolidated Waiver, and, as  such, are qualified persons  

with disabilities.  42 U.S.C. § 12131(2). 

94. DPW, operated and adm inistered by Defendant Alexander, is a public  

entity subject to the requirements of Title II of the ADA.  42 U.S.C. § 12131(1)(B). 

95. Defendant Alexander violat es the integration manda te of Title II of the 

ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12132 and 28  C.F.R. § 35.130(d).  Plaintiffs want community mental 

retardation services and the community is the most integrated setting appropriate to meet 

their needs.  Yet, Defendant has failed to provide them with mental retardation services in 
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the community.  As a result, Plaintiffs ar e unnecessarily segregated in psyc hiatric 

institutions and are at risk of continue d unnecessary instituti onalization in those 

institutions or in state mental retardation institutions. 

96. The provision of com munity residential habilitation services to Plaintiffs 

will not fundamentally alter Defendant's programs, services or activities.  As enrollees in 

the Consolidated Waiver, Plaintiffs currently have an entitlement to those services.  As 

such, providing them with thos e services will not result in displacement of others from 

services or their jumping ahead of others on a waiting list. 

97. Defendant Alexander violates Tit le II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12132 and 

28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(3), by us ing methods of administration that subject Plaintiffs to  

discrimination through unnecessary segrega tion and institutionalization, including, but 

not limited to:  (a) failing to streamline th e approval process for developm ent of new 

programs; (b) failing to develop a rate structur e that is sufficient a nd stable to enable 

providers to devel op new pr ograms; and (c) failing to effectively coor dinate mental 

health services for individu als with dual diagnoses of  mental illness and mental 

retardation. 

 B. Count II -- Rehabilitation Act
 

98. Paragraphs 1 through 97 are incorporated by referenc e as if fully set forth 

herein.  This Count is brought solely against Defendant DPW. 

99. Plaintiffs have intellectual disabilities,  impairments that substantially limit 

one or more major life activ ities, including but not limite d to, caring for themselves, 
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learning, concentrating, and thinking.  As such, they are persons with disabilities 

protected by Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.  29 U.S.C. § 705(20)(B). 

100. Plaintiffs are eligible for community -based mental retardation services, 

including services under the Co nsolidated Waiver, and, as  such, are qualified persons  

with disabilities pursuant to Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. 

101. DPW is a recipient of federal financial assistance and, as such, is subject to 

the requirements of Section 504 of the RA.  29 U.S.C. § 794(b). 

102.  Defendant DPW violates the integra tion mandate of S ection 504 of t he 

RA, 29 U. S.C. § 794 and 28 C.F.R. § 41. 51(d).  Pla intiffs want com munity mental 

retardation services and the community is the most integrated setting appropriate to meet 

their needs.  Yet, DPW has failed to provide th em with mental retardation services in the 

community.  As a result, Plaintiffs are unnecessarily segregated in psychiatric institutions 

and are at risk of continued unnecessary in stitutionalization in those institutions or in 

state mental retardation institutions. 

103. The provision of com munity residential habilitation services to Plaintiffs 

will not fundamentally alter Defendant's programs, services or activities.  As enrollees in 

the Consolidated Waiver, Plaintiffs currently have an entitlement to those services.  As 

such, providing them with thos e services will not result in displacement of others from 

services or their jumping ahead of others on a waiting list. 

104. Defendant DPW violates Section 504 of the  RA, 29 U. S.C. § 794 and 28 

C.F.R. § 41. 51(b)(3), by using methods of adm inistration that subject P laintiffs to 

discrimination through unnecessary segrega tion and institutionalization, including, but 
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not limited to:  (a) failing to streamline th e approval process for development of new 

programs; (b) failing to develop a rate structur e that is sufficient a nd stable to enable 

providers to devel op new pr ograms; and (c) failing to effectively coor dinate mental 

health services for individu als with dual diagnoses of  mental illness and mental 

retardation. 

 C. Count III -- Title XIX:  42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(10)(A) and 1983
 

105. Paragraphs 1 through 104 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein.  This Count is brought solely against Defendant Alexander for acts and omissions 

in his official capacity under color of state law. 

106. Under Title XIX, states that particip ate in the Medical Assistance program 

must make Medical Assistance benefits av ailable to eligible persons.  42 U.S.C. § 

1396a(a)(10)(A). 

107. "Medical Assistance" benefits include,  at the opti on of the state, HCB S 

Waiver services.  42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(1). 

108. Pennsylvania participates in the Medical Assistance program  and has 

chosen in its State Plan to cover HCBS Wa iver services approved by CMS, including the 

Consolidated Waiver. 

109. Plaintiffs are eligible for Medical Assistance benefits and are enrolled in the 

Consolidated Waiver. 

110. Plaintiffs are entitled to receive all se rvices under the Consolidated Waiver 

which they need, including residential habilitation services. 

 21

Case 2:11-cv-03312-JHS   Document 3   Filed 06/03/11   Page 21 of 26



111. It is clinically and medically necessary  for Plaintiffs to receive appropriate 

residential habilitation services.  Defendant Alexander has failed to  provide Plaintiffs 

with those services and, instead, they are unnecessarily institutionalized. 

112. Defendant's policies and practices have  impeded the prom pt provision of  

appropriate community services to Plaintiffs, including residential habilitation services. 

113. Defendant's policies and practices ar e intended solely to reduc e expen-

ditures for services provided to individuals, like Pl aintiffs, with complex needs, 

regardless of their clinical and medical needs. 

114. Defendant has failed to assure that Pl aintiffs receive appropriate services 

under the Consolidated Waiver to enable them to live in the community. 

115. Defendant Alexander's acts and om issions under color of state law violate 

42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(10)(A) and 1983. 

 D. Count IV -- Title XIX:  42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(8) and 1983
 

116. Paragraphs 1 through 115 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein.  This Count is brought solely against Defendant Alexander for acts and omissions 

in his official capacity under color of state law. 

117. Title XIX mandates that states which participate in the Medical Assistance 

program must "provide that all indi viduals wishing to make application for medical 

assistance under the plan shall have the opportunity to do so, and that all such assistanc e 

shall be furnished with reasonable promptness to all eligible indivi duals."  42 U.S. C. § 

1396a(a)(8). 
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118. Title XIX requires states to adopt time standards f or the provision of  

services to avoid unreasonable delays.  In addition, Title XI X does not permit states to 

delay furnishing Medical Assistance due to th e state agency's administrative procedures.  

42 C.F.R. § 435.930(a). 

119. Defendant Alexander has established no timelines for the provi sion of 

residential habilitation services under the Consolidated Waiver. 

120. Defendant Alexander has vi olated Plaintiffs' right to receive residential 

habilitation services under the Consolidated Waiver with r easonable promptness, as th e 

Plaintiffs have been institutionalized and aw aiting such community services for periods  

ranging from two to seven months with no end in sight. 

121. Defendant Alexander's acts and om issions under color of state law violate 

42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(8) and 1983. 

 E. Count V -- Title XIX:  42 U.S.C. §§ 1396n(c) and 1983
 

122. Paragraphs 1 through 121 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein.  This Count is brought solely against Defendant Alexander for acts and omissions 

in his official capacity under color of state law. 

123. Title XIX requires that each HCBS Waiver must include "necessary  

safeguards (including adequate standards for pr ovider participation) ... to protect the 

health and welfare of individu als provided services under the [W]aiver ...."  42 U.S.C. § 

1396n(c)(2)(A).  This requires a state "to provide all people enrolled in the [W]aiver with 

the opportunity for access to a ll needed services covered by the [W]aiver and under t he 

Medicaid State plan.  ...  The opportunity for access pertains  to all services available 
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under the [W]aiver that an enro llee is determined to need on the basis of an assessment  

and a written plan of care/support."  CMS, Olmstead Update No. 4  (Jan. 10, 2001).  

"Once in the [W]aiver, an en rolled individual enjoys protection against arbitrary or 

inappropriate restrictions, and the State assume s an obligation to assure the individual's 

health and welfare."  Id. 

124. Plaintiff's health and welfare has been jeopardized by De fendant's 

implementation of the Consolid ated Waiver.  As enrollees in the Consolidated Waiver, 

Plaintiffs are entitled to receive residen tial habilitation services , and Defendant has  

determined that they need those services.  Yet, Defenda nt has i mposed arbitrary and 

inappropriate restrictions on access to those services, which has resulted in their inability 

to receive appropriate commun ity residential habilitation serv ices and their unnecessary 

institutionalization. 

125. Title XIX also requires states to in form individuals eligible for HCBS 

Waiver services of their feasib le alternatives available under the Waiver so that they can 

choose both among s uch available services and between HCBS Waiver services and 

institutionalization.  42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(2)(C). 

126. Defendant has violat ed Title XIX by failing to a llow Plaintiffs to choose 

among available feasible alternatives and to choose between Consolidat ed Waiver 

services and institutionalization.  Defend ant's policies and practices have made 

community residential habilitation services e ffectively unavailable to Plaintiffs, forcing 

them to be institutionalized. 
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127. Defendant Alexander's acts and om issions under color of state law violate 

42 U.S.C. §§ 1396n(c) and 1983.  

VI. Relief Requested
 

128. Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court: 

a. retain jurisdiction over this action; 

b. declare that Defendants' actions and inactions violate the AD A and 

RA, Title XIX, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

c. issue appropriate injunctive relie f to enjoin Defendants from 

continuing to violate Plainti ffs' rights under  the ADA, RA, T itle XIX, and 42 U.S. C. § 

1983, and to take appropriate steps to remedy those violations; 

d. issue such other relief as m ay be just, equitable, and appr opriate, 

including an award of  reasonable attorneys' fees, litigation e xpenses, and c osts as 

available pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1988 and 12205 and 29 U.S.C. § 794a(b). 

       Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Dated:  June 3, 2011    By: /s/ Robert W. Meek     
       Robert W. Meek 
       PA 27870 
       Mark J. Murphy 
       PA 38564 
       Robin Resnick 
       PA 46980 
       Disability Rights Network of PA 
       1315 Walnut Street, Suite 500 
       Philadel phia, PA  19107-4705 
       215- 238-8070 
 
       Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
 

I, Robert W. Meek, hereby certify that tr ue and correct copi es of Plaintiffs'  

Amended Complaint were served as follows on this 3rd day of June, 2011: 

 
By First Class Mail, Postage Prepaid and By Email: 

Barry N. Kramer 
Chief Deputy Attorney General 

Office of Attorney General 
21 South 12th Street, 3rd Floor 

Philadelphia, PA  19107 
 

By First Class Mail, Postage Prepaid and By Email: 
Kathleen A. Grogan 

Senior Assistant Counsel 
Office of General Counsel 

Department of Public Welfare 
3rd Floor West, Health & Welfare Building 

Harrisburg, PA  17120 
 
 

 
 
       /s/ Robert W. Meek     
       Robert W. Meek 
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